IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

od'

CASE NO. 75,049

STATE OF FLORIDA

Petitioner,

vs .

JOSEPH SAVINO,

Respondent,



PETITIONERS BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

CAROL COBOURN ASBURY
Assistant Attorney General
111 Georgia Avenue, Suite 204
West Palm Beach, Florida
(407) 837-5062
Florida Bar Number 393665

Counsel for Petitioner

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Joseph Savino, was the defendant in the trial court and the Appellant below, and will be referred to herein as "Savino" or "Respondent". The State of Florida, was the prosecution in the trial court and the Appellee below, and will be referred to herein as "Petitioner" or "the State". The record on appeal contains eighteen volumes and two supplemental volumes. The first eighteen volumes shall be referred to by the symbol "R" followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses. The supplemental volume will be referred to by the symbol "SR1" and "SR2" followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses. This case comes before this Court on a question certified to be of great public importance by the Fourth District Court of Appeal.

Savino v. State, 14 F.L.W. 2567 (Fla. 4th DCA November 8, 1989).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent was charged by a Grand Jury indictment with murder in the first degree by committing the felony of Aggravated Child Abuse. (R 2438). He was tried by jury. The jury returned a verdict of guilty of the lesser included offense of third degree murder. (R 2681). Respondent was adjudicated guilty in accordance with the verdict of the jury. (R 2681).

Notice of Appeal from the judgment and sentence was filed on April 2, 1987. Respondent's Brief was filed on October 7, 1988, Respondent raised four points on appeal. He contended he did not waive his presence, or acquiesce to or ratify counsel's waiver of his presence during a witness's testimony or during the court's response to a jury question. Next, he contended that the trial court erred when it failed to suppress the oral and recorded statements he gave to the police because he did not make a knowing and intelligent waiver of his Miranda rights. Respondent also contended that the trial court erred when it denied his request for a special instruction on insanity caused by the long and continued use of intoxicants. Finally, he contended that the court erred when it refused to admit the testimony of a third party who states that Respondent's wife had admitted to the third party that she had killed her daughter seven years earlier.

Petitioner's brief was filed on February 28, 1989.
The Fourth District Court of Appeals held that the

trial court did not err in denying Respondent's motion to suppress his confession. However, the Fourth District Court reversed Respondent's conviction on the remainder of the points and remanded the case for a new trial. The Fourth District Court did certify the following question to the Supreme Court of Florida as a question of great public importance:

MAY A DEFENDANT SHOW THAT SOMEONE OTHER THAN HIMSELF COMMITTED THE CRIME FOR WHICH HE IS CHARGED BY INTRODUCING EVIDENCE THAT ANOTHER PERSON WITH AN OPPORTUNITY TO COMMIT THE CRIME CHARGED, COMMITTED A SIMILAR CRIME BY SIMILAR METHODS. IF THE ANSWER TO THIS QUESTION IS IN THE AFFIRMATIVE, MAY THE TRIAL COURT APPLY A LESS STRICT STANDARD OF SIMILARITY TO THE ADMISSION OF SUCH EVIDENCE?

On November 16, 1989, Petitioner filed a timely notice to invoke discretionary jurisdiction of this Court.

Petitioner would point out to the Supreme Court of Florida that the certified question does not accurately encompass the fact of this case.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Pretrial hearings were held on a defense motion to suppress the statements and on the question of Respondent's competency to stand trial. On competency, four hearings were held at which seven doctors and several relatives of Respondent testified. This testimony was incorporated for consideration on the motion to suppress. (R 408,425-524, 1044). The trial court denied the motion to suppress, specifically rejecting Respondent's claim that he was too intoxicated or mentally disturbed to knowingly and intelligently waive his rights. (R 2615). The trial court also ruled that the Respondent was competent to stand trial. (R 2526).

Pertinent to the issues before this Court is the testimony of Carolyn Savino, the Respondent's wife, at the motion to suppress. She was called as a witness for the Respondent. At the motion to suppress Carolyn Savino was warned by the trial court that anything she says could be used against her during her trial for third degree murder. (R 595). She was also advised that she had a right not to answer any questions until she had talked to her attorney. Carolyn Savino said she understood, that she had talked to her attorney, and that she desired to testify. (R 595-597).

Carolyn testified that on December 24, Christmas Eve, she did not get off work until 4:00 - 4:30 P.M. When she got home the Respondent, her husband, asked her to go to the

liquor store for a bottle a Jack Daniels. When Carolyn returned she had a drink and the Respondent had several. Then they had dinner. Later that evening the next door neighbor came over. The Respondent and his neighbors smoked three or four rocks of cocaine. This went on until about 10:00. When Carolyn went to bed, they left. Respondent then woke her at 2:30 A.M. Carolyn and Respondent took the dog for a walk for about an hour. When they got back to the trailer she had to get dressed for work. left for work at 9:00 in the morning on Christmas day. returned home at about 3:30 in the afternoon. When she came home she gave some money to the Respondent to buy some pot. This was Christmas evening. He came home. He smoked about six joints. This went on until 9:00 P.M. when the next-door neighbor came over and they went out. Respondent came home at about 3:30 A.M. on December 26th. Carolyn got up at 4:00 in the morning to get ready for work. She left for work at 6:00 in the morning. At 7:30 in the morning the phone rang. Respondent told Carolyn that she had to come home because Johnny, the victim, was sick and he was coming to pick her They were in an accident on the way home. After the accident on the way home, Carolyn arrived home an hour or an hour and a half after Respondent. She found Respondent at the door crying. He was saying "I'm sorry, I'm sorry. didn't know, I'm sorry. Don't be mad at me." Carolyn went in the bedroom and then left to call the police. Carolyn testified that she was five and half months pregnant at this

time and working as a waitress. (R 601-607).

Respondent also took the stand for the motion to suppress. He did not deny Carolyn's rendition of the events of December 24th through the 26th. (R 833-865).

At the beginning of trial, the state moved in limine to prevent the defense from asking any witness to testify about statements made by Carolyn Savino concerning the 1978 death of Ahna LeMay Griffin, Carolyn's daughter. Any such statements would be out of court hearsay statements with no applicable exception for admissibility. (R 2633).

At the hearing just prior to the trial, defense counsel wanted to proffer the testimony of Dr. Appel who heard through collateral interviews with other people that Carolyn Savino had killed two other children plus her father. (R 1177, 1179). The trial court ruled that this was hearsay. (R 1179). The State argued that the trail court not get involved in hearsay after hearsay on collateral issues that are merely speculative. (R 1183).

Defense counsel sought to introduce the testimony of the medical examiner from Virginia who would testify that Ahna Griffin died of a blunt trauma. (R 1217). He also sought to have a detective from Virginia testify that he investigated the homicide up there and that Carolyn claimed that she was not there when Ahna Griffin died. (R 1224). Finally defense counsel wanted Cheri Dierringer to testify to the fact that Carolyn admitted to her that she killed Ahna. (R 1225).

The State objected to trying Carolyn Savino on a Virginia case in a Florida courtroom on inadmissible evidence. "If they want to try her, they can do that."

(R 1225).

The defense counsel insisted on bringing in the testimony of Cheri Dierringer and a witness from Virginia that Carolyn had murdered Ahna in 1978 and to the continuing conduct on her part showing child abuse to Ahna. (R 1237-1244). The State argued that he did not want to turn this into a mud slinging contest on collateral issues and not whether or not Joseph Savino kill Johnny Griffin as he confessed to on the 26th of December, 1985. (R 1250).

In his opening statement to the jury the defense counsel stated that Carolyn Savino was eight months pregnant with Respondent's child at the time of this incident.

Carolyn had six children which has since been taken from her by HRS. (R 1276). He mentioned that Carolyn Savino was charged with third degree murder in this case. (R 1285).

The first witness to testify was Dr. Wright, the medical examiner, who testified as to the cause of Johnny's death (R 1297, 1316, 1323-1324). He testified that the injury done to the six year old victim was caused by an extreme blunt force brought to bear against the abdomen (R 1324). To the doctor's knowledge he has never heard of a victim such as Johnny Griffin having a laceration of the intestine. As long as a person can move backwards a blow to the stomach will be absorbed by the soft abdomen. In order

to lacerate the intestines the blows that struck the victim would have had to compress the abdomen back against the spinal cord with such force that it tore the intestines apart. To do this the victim would have had to have been up against a wall or some immovable object when the blows were (R 1325). This type of injury would have had to have been made by a very powerful or violent force to the abdomen. The doctor testified that it is pretty unlikely that an adult woman could inflict such injuries with her She could have done it if the child was on its back and she stomped on its belly. It is possible that a woman could do it with her fist but it is unlikely. (R 1355). victim was beaten repeatedly and severely. There are separated areas in the abdomen where there had been internal tearing. There is another area deep within the deep musculature of this child that was intensely bruised. was another area in which there was hemorrhage around the spinal cord itself. All theses blows contributed to the death of the child. (R 1357-1357).

Police officers then testified that when they went to the trailer the victim did not have a heart beat (R 1382; that Respondent was pacing back and forth and said he "whoopped" the boy, he shouldn't have hit him so hard (R 1397); and that the victim was pronounced dead at the hospital (R 1430).

Virginia Griffin's testimony was taken in chambers to determine if she was capable of understanding the truth. She

did not testify at trial but her testimony is pertinent to the determination of the opportunity Carolyn Savino had in killing the victim.

Virginia told the trial judge that the Respondent beat Johnny Griffin up by hitting Johnny in the stomach. Johnny did nothing wrong. (R 1504-1506). She also said that her mother, Carolyn Savino, never hit her or hurt her. The Respondent has hit her and Johnny more than once. (R 1508-1509). Respondent hit Johnny Griffin lots of times in the stomach. She saw it. (R 1518-1519).

Deputy Charles Birt arrived at the scene about 9:24 in the morning. (R 1554). He heard the Respondent apologize to his wife. (R 1558) When Deputy Birt asked the Respondent what happened the Respondent said he was sorry that he had hit the victim. Birt then stopped the Respondent and read the Miranda rights to Respondent. Respondent voluntarily waived his Miranda rights. After Miranda, Respondent again stated that he had hit the kid because he would not stop crying. Respondent wanted his wife to forgive (R 1560-1563). Birt testified that the Respondent was not crying when the Miranda rights were being read to him. Birt felt that Respondent understood the Miranda rights and that he made a knowing and intelligent waiver. 1576,1580). Deputy Birt testified that Respondent's behavior was consistent with someone who was distraught and upset and (R 1592). concerned.

Detective Restive has been a police officer for more

that 23 years. (R 1594). He asked the Respondent what happened after he had talked to Deputy Birt. The Respondent said that he was drunk when it happened. Det. Restivo then placed the Respondent under arrest and told the Respondent that he would speak to the Respondent at the sheriff's office. (R 1598-1599). They left the trailer about 11 A.M. Respondent was quiet. He was not crying. (R 1601).

At the station Respondent was read his Miranda rights again. (R 1603). Respondent never refused to answer any questions. He appeared to understand what was being said to him. He responded coherently. He did not smell of alcohol. Once he started talking he would not shut up. (R 1608).

Respondent's taped confession was played for the jury. In the taped confession Respondent said that his wife went to work on December 24, 1985. Respondent then stated that he had seen his stepdaughter playing with the victim's private parts in the bathroom and he had smashed their heads together and slapped the victim twice in the face and hit his head on the bathroom counter. (R 1623). On the following day his wife went to work. He put Johnny and Virginia in the tub after they ate breakfast. He later saw the children playing in the bathtub and they got water all over the floor. Respondent stated he smacked the victim in the face and punched him in the stomach. The victim also hit the toilet bowl and a cabinet. (R 1624-1625). He punched the victim in the whole abdomen area. He could not remember how many times he punched the victim. He just knows he beat him

"really bad". (R 1625). Nothing happened on Christmas because he was too high. (R 1626). The next day (December 26th) the victim was in bad shape. Respondent noticed that the victim was bruised up on the side of his face and his chest. The victim kept calling for his mother. Respondent then called Carolyn up at work and told her she had to come home because "Johnny is in real bad shape." (R 1627). Respondent picked Carolyn up at work. On the way back they were in a car accident. The officer took Respondent home. Respondent tried to reassure the victim that his mother was on her way. The victim started fading out. The victim puked, he got sick. Finally the victim responded no more. (R 1628-1629). When Carolyn did get to the trailer she called the ambulance. (R 1629).

At the end of the tape, Det. Restivo testified that Respondent responded appropriately to all questions and did not appear to be fading in and out of reality. (R 1631).

The prosecutor called Margaret Cress to the stand in order to identify the decedent. On direct examination Cress identified herself as the decedent's baby-sitter and identified pictures of the deceased as that of Johnny Griffin whose birthday was August 31, 1979. On cross examination Cress stated that for all the times she had babysat for the deceased she had only been paid \$50. All Cress testified to was age and identity. After the witness was excused and the jury had left the room the Respondent's counsel noted for the record that the Respondent had just come in the room and was

not present during the testimony of Margaret Cress. The prosecutor offered to question Margaret Cress over again. The Respondent's attorney elected to waive the Respondent's presence. Respondent did not object. (R 1723).

At trial, the defense asserted alternative defenses: that Respondent's wife, Carolyn, had committed this killing because she had allegedly killed two other children and her father died of blunt trauma (R 1229, 2338-2339); and that the Respondent was not guilty by reason of insanity and lacked the requisite specific intent because of brain damage from head injuries and chronic as well as recent drug and alcohol abuse. (R 1229, 2343-2349, Respondent's Brief page 2). this end Respondent called several doctors to the stand to testify to Respondent's abuse of drugs and insanity. defense called Drs. Ryan, Virsida, O'Brien, and Appel as trial witnesses. They testified that Respondent was insane at the time of the offense and did not knowingly waive his Miranda rights. (R 1830-1835, 1900-1906, 1963-1964, 2098-2105). In rebuttal the State called Dr. Schwartz and Dr. Zager to testify that the Respondent did not have brain damage and was sane at the time of the offense.

Dr. Ryan testified at trial that the Respondent is more responsive and more coherent that he was at the beginning of the year (R 1334). He admitted to being part of the defense team and not a court appointed doctor (R 1839). Dr. Ryan's impression that the Respondent could not have formed the requisite intent to committed the crime was based

on communications he had with the Respondent three months after the incident (R 1851). One can have organic brain disorder and still be legally sane (R 1853). Ryan did not talk to the police officers who observed the Respondent's behavior and how he appeared that day because a lay man's opinion is irrelevant (R 1858). Dr. Ryan admitted that the only information that he had regarding the Respondent's alleged substance abuse were statements made by the Respondent himself. He did no independent testing or interviews. (R 1849-1851). Based only on what Respondent said to him, Dr. Ryan diagnosed the Respondent as being psychotic due to organic brain disorder and substance abuse. (R 1848,1849). Dr. Ryan admitted that the Respondent could have organic brain damage and still be sane. (R 1854).

Dr. Virsida testified that one can have organic brain disorder and still be legally sane (1910). The symptoms which Respondent displayed the day of the incident are all typical of one who is suffering from reactive psychosis including the hallucinating (R 1910-1911). Virsida noted that a number of comments he made in his taped confession indicated to him that the Respondent was psychotic (R 1916). One such statement he pointed out was on page three of the transcript where the Respondent says, "I don't know. I just wasn't aware what I was doing at that time." The State pointed out that that is a misprint and the transcript should read, "I wasn't aware of what I was doing at that time." (R 1917). So the conclusion that that was not an appropriate

response is now not valid (R 1917). Virsida stated that the only information he had on the behavior of the Respondent on December 24, 1985, when he beat the victim, was Respondent's report of his alleged substance abuse. Based on Respondent's statement alone the doctor determined that the Respondent was insane on the 24th of December, 1985 (R 1921). Thus, Dr. Virsida's opinion is based solely on Respondent's self serving statements.

Dr. O'Brien testified at trial that without substantiating evidence he would wonder about the truthfulness as to the amount of drugs the Respondent said he took from December 24 through December 26 (R 1986). The only person that O'Brien talked to about Respondent's substance abuse was the Respondent. (R 1955, 1975, 1980). O'Brien stated that the Respondent could form the intent to do tasks like fix a van, or to pick up his wife or to get help for his sick child but could not form the intent to commit a crime while under the influence of drugs (R 1987-1989). Dr. Virsida also testified that Respondent "knows the game". Thus, Dr. Virsida's opinion is based solely on Respondent's statements to him.

Dr. Appel's neuropsychological test revealed that the Respondent had organic brain damage in the left anterior hemisphere of the brain. (R 2141). She found out from Respondent's sister that the Respondent was hit on the head with a baseball bat when he was young and she learned from his mother and sister that Respondent was struck by lightning

when he was eight years old. (R 2146). She acquired her medical history from Respondent's mother. (R 2147). already turned in her report to the court when she talked to Rodney Moore, Bo Thurston and Gomez. (R 2147-2148). Appel does not remember if she read the police report and depositions or listened to the taped confession or read a transcript of the taped confession before she made her report. (R 2149-2151). In her report she states that all her information came from three interviews and testing sessions lasting 12 hours total and a general history of the Respondent given her by the defense attorney. (R 2479). only person she talked to about the Respondent's alleged drug and alcohol abuse was the Respondent, himself. It was not confirmed by any outside source. Her conclusion was that the Respondent suffered from organic brain damage caused by the injuries to his head combined with the substance and drug abuse. (R 2151).

Dr. Appel testified that Respondent's problems with utilizing verbal information is due to his organic brain damage. His memory problems are due largely to his organic brain damage. (R 2158-2159). However in her report on page seven (R 2485) she says that the Respondent is "much more mentally clear during her interview than he was when he was first arrested and questioned." (R 2154).

After refusing to answer the question, Dr. Appel finally admitted that one can have a reactive psychosis (R 2120-2125). The associated features of reactive psychosis is

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