ORIGINAL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,)
)
 Petitioner,)
)
 vs.)
)
 JOSEPH SAVINO,)
)
 Respondent.)

FILED
 FEB 12 1990
 CLERK, SUPREME COURT
 By: [Signature]
 Deputy Clerk

Case No. 75,049

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

RICHARD L. JORANDBY
 Public Defender
 15th Judicial Circuit of Florida
 Governmental Center/9th Floor
 301 North Olive Avenue
 West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
 (407) 355-2150

ALLEN J. DeWEESE
 Assistant Public Defender

 Counsel for Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I.

Respondent did not personally waive his presence nor did he ratify defense counsel's waiver of his presence at two stages of his trial: (1) The entire testimony of a state witness. (2) Reinstruction of the jury on third degree murder, the crime of conviction. The Rules of Criminal Procedure and case law from this Court require the defendant's presence unless he knowingly and intelligently waives it personally or ratifies counsel's waiver. The error could only be harmless if harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, which it was not because of the importance of the two occurrences for which Respondent was absent.

II.

The trial court's denial of the defense's requested jury instruction on long-term intoxication was a correct statement of law drawn directly from this Court's case law and explicitly mandated by the Florida Standard Jury Instructions in Criminal Cases. Its omission was highly prejudicial because the defense established a substantial evidentiary foundation for it and because insanity through intoxication was a major theory of defense.

III.

The defense's proffered evidence showing that Respondent's wife killed another of her children in a previous marriage in a manner similar to the death of her son in the instant case was admissible under "Williams Rule" standards for admissibility of

prosecution evidence of other crimes in child abuse cases. The evidence was relevant as tending to show that the wife rather than Respondent killed the son. Although it is not necessary to apply it in the instant case, a broader standard of admissibility should be applied to defense "Reverse Williams Rule" evidence because the major limitation on prosecution Williams Rule evidence -- prejudice to the defendant -- is not a factor when the defendant himself offers such evidence.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN TAKING THE TESTIMONY OF A WITNESS AND IN ANSWERING A JURY QUESTION DURING DELIBERATIONS WHERE RESPONDENT WAS NOT PRESENT, DID NOT WAIVE HIS PRESENCE, AND DID NOT ACQUIESCE IN OR RATIFY HIS COUNSEL'S WAIVER OF HIS PRESENCE [RESTATED].

This issue is one of three upon which the Fourth District Court of Appeal reversed. It is not the issue certified to this Court by the District Court of Appeal. Although it is true that once an issue is certified, this Court then has jurisdiction over the entire case and authority to address all issues involved in it, see Reed v. State, 470 So.2d 1382 (Fla. 1985), nonetheless this Court's review of issues other than the one conferring jurisdiction remains discretionary. Savoie v. State, 422 So.2d 308, 310 (Fla. 1982). In the instant case, it is unnecessary for this Court to reach either this point on appeal or Point II on appeal unless it decides to overturn the District Court of Appeal's decision on Point 111, the certified question. Certainly no decision on this point on appeal is needed as a precedent, since the law on the issue has already been clearly stated by this Court in other cases. See, e.g., Turner v. State, 530 So.2d 45 (Fla. 1987). In any event, this Court will have to uphold the District Court of Appeal's grant of a new trial even if it decides that the District Court was correct on only one of the three issues upon which it reversed.

The District Court of Appeal reversed Mr. Savino's conviction on this point because Mr. Savino was not present at two separate points in his trial. The state now attempts to have this Court

overturn that decision by trying to minimize the importance of the two stages in *Mr. Savino's* trial when he was absent. The state's effort is futile, first because the two stages -- the entire testimony of a state witness, and reinstruction of the jury on a crucial element of the crime of conviction -- were in fact very important, and second because the law requires the defendant's presence without regard to the relative importance in appellate hindsight of a given occurrence at trial. The law recognizes that waivers of the defendant's presence by defense counsel, such as those in the instant case, are ineffective and not binding upon the defendant personally. The waivers of defense counsel in the instant case were ineffective because the record does not reflect that *Mr. Savino* himself was ever informed of what was going on in his absence, that he ever personally waived his presence, or that he ever ratified his counsel's waivers.

Rule 3.180(a)(5), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, provides that in all prosecutions for crime the defendant shall be present at all proceedings before the court when the jury is present. Rule 3.180(b) provides that trial may be proceed without the defendant if he voluntarily absents himself. Here, *Mr. Savino* did not voluntarily absent himself. He was in custody (R 2691) and was simply not brought into court.

In Turner v. State, *supra*, this Court held that a waiver by the defendant of his presence at an essential stage of his trial could not be found where the defendant's counsel did not advise the defendant of his right to be present and where the trial court did not inform the defendant of his right to be present or question him as to any ratification of counsel's actions (there, exercise of

jury challenges) in his absence. Id. at 49. A defendant's waiver of his right to be present at essential stages of trial must be knowing, intelligent, and voluntary. Id. Silence is insufficient to show acquiescence. Id.; Francis v. State, 413 So.2d 1175, 1178 (Fla. 1982). Counsel may make the waiver on behalf of a client only where the client, subsequent to the waiver, ratifies the waiver either by examination by the trial judge or by acquiescence to the waiver with actual or constructive knowledge of the waiver. Amazon v. State, 487 So.2d 8, 11 (Fla. 1986).

Here, there was neither ratification of counsel's waiver nor knowing, intelligent, or voluntary acquiescence to it. Regarding the reinstruction of the jury, the record is completely silent as to whether Mr. Savino was ever at any point informed that the jury was going to be or had been reinstructed; all that is shown in the record is that his counsel waived Mr. Savino's presence when the jury was brought into court and reinstructed (R 2415-2417).

Regarding the testimony of Margaret Cress, Mr. Savino was finally brought into court that morning just when his counsel retroactively waived his presence for the testimony which has just been given (R 1723). However, his mere presence at the time his counsel stated he was making a waiver is insufficient to constitute either ratification or acquiescence. The trial court made no inquiry of Mr. Savino (the "better procedure," Amazon v. State, supra). Silence is insufficient to show acquiescence. Turner v. State, supra; Francis v. State, supra. A defendant cannot knowingly and intelligently waive his right to presence if he is unaware of it, id., and the record here does not reflect that Mr. Savino was informed of or understood his right to be present for

Margaret Cress's testimony. Certainly, it cannot be "presumed," as contended by the state (page 25 of brief), that Mr. Savino ratified or acquiesced in his counsel's waiver of his presence.¹

A defendant's involuntary absence during a crucial stage of adversary proceedings contrary to Rule 3.180(a) can be harmless error, as claimed by the state here, only where the state meets its burden to show beyond a reasonable doubt that the absence was not prejudicial. Garcia v. State, 492 So.2d 360, 364 (Fla. 1986). A violation of a defendant's right to be present cannot be considered harmless error if there is any reasonable possibility of prejudice resulting from the defendant's absence. Mann v. Dugger, 817 F.2d 1471, 1476 (11th Cir. 1987).

¹ It would be especially erroneous in the instant case to presume a knowing and intelligent acquiescence or ratification from Mr. Savino's silence because his limited mental capacity was a prime issue in the case. His competency to stand trial was an issue, and the defense contended that he was insane at the time of the offense and incompetent to make a knowing and intelligent waiver of his Miranda rights (R 2460, 2521-2525, 2526). In lengthy pretrial motion hearings and at trial a total of seven doctors testified to Mr. Savino's mental condition in relation to these issues. Five of the seven gave opinions that Mr. Savino was incompetent, insane, and incapable of knowing and intelligent Miranda waiver (R 55, 58, 67, 129, 137, 143, 182-183, 190, 256, 259, 522, 526, 543, 568, 570, 663, 667, 669, 703-704, 743, 1830-1835, 1900-1906, 1963-64, 2230, 2040, 2098-2105, 2199-2204, 2230, SR1 7-31). The same five doctors testified that Mr. Savino was brain damaged as a result of years of extreme drug abuse and numerous blows to the head received in childhood and they and three other doctors as well as lay witnesses testified to the drug use and blows to the head (R 19, 24, 28, 48-53, 61, 117, 122, 140-143, 184-189, 234, 327-335, 335-338, 364-368, 390-405, 417-418, 519, 568, 583, 1687-1693, 1703-1707, 1747, 1765-1769, 1925-1928, SR1 7-31). Of particular relevance to any question of a knowing and intelligent waiver, Dr. Appel testified that Mr. Savino's verbal I.Q. was 78, his full scale I.Q. placed him in the lower 6.6% of the population, and he was retarded (R 126-127). Tests she gave Mr. Savino demonstrated a pervasive language disorder; Mr. Savino miscomprehended even simple spoken language (R 131). Mr. Savino was functioning at the bottom 1% of the population and was mentally ill due to organic brain syndrome, she testified (R 144).

Here, *Mr. Savino's* absence during the testimony of Margaret Cress was especially prejudicial because it amounted to a denial of his right to confront witnesses. The primary purpose of the requirement in Rule 3.180(a) that a defendant be present during trial is to allow him to confront witnesses and the evidence against him. Waters v. State, 486 So.2d 614, 615 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986). The right to confrontation of witnesses involves both the right to effective cross examination, see Davis v. Alaska, 415 U.S. 308, 94 S.Ct. 1105, 39 L.Ed.2d 347 (1974), and the right to a face-to-face meeting with witnesses appearing before the trier of fact, Coy v. Iowa, ___ U.S. ___, 108 S.Ct. 2798, 101 L.Ed.2d 857 (1988). Mr. Savino was therefore denied both the right to confer with counsel concerning cross examination, and also the right to look upon the witness as she testified and to have her look upon him. Coy, supra. Although Margaret Cress' testimony was brief and was offered for the narrow issue of identification of the deceased victim, nonetheless the identification went to an essential element of the crime -- the fact that the victim was dead -- and Mr. Savino was absent for all of it.

It appears that no Florida case has found harmless error in the defendant's absence for the entire testimony of a witness. In Brito v. State, 454 So.2d 66 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984) the court reversed without discussing harmless error where the trial court excluded the defendants from the courtroom when it examined a court witness. In Burgess v. State, 369 So.2d 686 (Fla. 1st DCA 1979) the court found the error to be harmless where the trial court inadvertently commenced proceedings after a recess in the absence of the defendant and his attorney, but where the witness had testified

only to his name, employment, and experience before the defendant and his attorney entered the courtroom.

Harmless error is decided in other contexts with reference to the defendant's opportunity to consult with his lawyer and participate in the conduct of the defense. See, e.g., Francis v. State, supra (defendant not present to consult with counsel during exercise of peremptory jury challenges; error not harmless); and Turner v. State, supra (defense counsel actually conferred with defendant about selection of jurors, and defendant had an opportunity to participate in choosing which jurors would be stricken; error harmless). Here, defense counsel's waiver of the state's offer to have Margaret Cress testify again in Mr. Savino's presence (R 1723) denied him any opportunity to consult with counsel about her testimony or to have any input into cross examination of her. This was not a case like Lambrix v. Dusaer, 529 So.2d 1110 (Fla. 1988) where the defendant "knew what was going on" in this absence. Id. at 1112. The record here shows that Mr. Savino was completely in the dark concerning the witness' testimony and therefore had no opportunity to influence the course of the proceedings to whatever extent he might have been able.

The same is true of the reinstruction of the jury. The reinstruction was on a matter crucial to the defense: the state of mind required for third degree murder, the crime for which Mr. Savino was convicted. A major part of the defense was insanity and lack of specific intent (R 1229). Again, by his absence Mr. Savino was prevented from giving whatever input he might have been able. In Meek v. State, 487 So.2d 1058 (Fla. 1986), this Court held harmless the defendant's absence where, as here, the jury was

brought into court to have a question posed by them answered after the judge conferred with the prosecutor and defense counsel and all agreed upon the answer. The error was found harmless because trial counsel informed the defendant of the jury question and the answer before the jury finished its deliberations; the defendant's subsequent failure to object was held to be a ratification. Here, of course, there is no indication in the record that Mr. Savino ever even knew about the question or the answer or had any opportunity to object if he so desired.

Mr. Savino's absence at these two stages in his trial, without any waiver or acquiescence or ratification by him, was a denial of his rights to confrontation, due process, and a fair trial under the Florida and United States Constitutions. The District Court of Appeal correctly ordered a new trial.

ARGUMENT

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE DEFENSE'S REQUEST TO INSTRUCT THE JURY THAT INSANITY MAY RESULT FROM THE LONG AND CONTINUED USE OF INTOXICANTS [RESTATED].

The issue in this point on appeal is the second one upon which the District Court of Appeal reversed *Mr. Savino's* conviction, and is the second one raised by the state besides the one certified by the District Court. As with Point I, review of the issue in this point on appeal is discretionary with this Court. *Savoie v. State*, 422 So.2d 308, 310 (Fla. 1982). It is not necessary for this Court to decide this point unless it overturns the decision of the District Court of Appeal on the other two points. As with Point I, the law on this point is so clear that no further statement on it from this Court is needed as a precedent.

The instruction requested by the defense and denied by the trial court in the instant case is required by Instruction 3.04 (b), Florida Standard Jury Instructions In Criminal Cases. The standard instruction includes a Note to Judge stating, "If drugs or alcohol are involved, see *Cirack v. State*, 201 So.2d 706 (Fla. 1967)." The defense's requested instruction in the instant case was drawn directly from *Cirack* (R 2640):

DEFENDANT' REQUESTED JURY INSTRUCTION NO. 5

The law recognizes insanity super induced by the long and continued use of intoxicants so as to produce a fixed and settled frenzy or insanity either permanent or intermittent.

This exact language is found at page 709 of *Cirack*. In support, *Cirack* cites Florida cases going back to 1891. This line of cases

was most recently reaffirmed by this Court in Preston v. State, 444 So.2d 939 at 944 (Fla. 1984).

At trial in the instant case the defense established an evidentiary foundation for the instruction. One of Mr. Savino's main lines of defense was insanity (R 1229). At trial the defense presented the testimony of five doctors that he was insane at the time of the offense (R 1747, SR1 7-31, R 1830-1835, 1900-1906, 1963-1964, 2040, 2098-2105). The doctors testified that Mr. Savino suffered from brain damage as a result of many years of drug and alcohol abuse as well as from blows to the head and lightning (R 1747, SR1 7-31, R 1824-1835, 1895-1906, 1955-1967, 2034-2088, 2098-2112). There was also testimony from family members and other witnesses to Mr. Savino's long-term drug abuse throughout his life as well as immediately before the incident on trial.

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